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“The Ordeal of Virginius Dabney”:

A Southern Liberal, the Southern Regional Council, 

and the Limits of Managed Race Relations

J. Douglas Smith

In 1950, John Temple Graves published an article in the Virginia Quarterly Review entitled “Revolution in the South.”  With what one historian has termed “obvious approval,” Graves traced the backlash against liberalism in the South from World War II to the emergence of the Dixiecrats in 1948.  I am indebted to Graves, for at one point he contemplated calling his piece “The Ordeal of Virginius Dabney,” a far more apt title for this talk than the one I conjured up back in February.

* * * * * * * * * * 


Without a doubt, and in large part as a result of Morton Sosna’s In Search of the Silent South and John Kneebone’s Southern Liberal Journalists and the Issue of Race, Virginius Dabney is well-known to students of the Southern Regional Council (SRC) and its predecessor, the Commission on Interracial Cooperation (CIC).  Born in 1901 into an aristocratic Virginia family, Dabney emerged in the late 1920s and early 1930s as a critic of southern religious, cultural, and political backwardness.  Unlike an earlier generation of southern reformers who envisioned rigid and thorough social control as necessary for regional advancement, Dabney and his cohorts recognized that future progress depended upon the integration of African Americans into civic life.  In words hailed by the black press as "courageous," Dabney remarked in 1931 that African Americans had made tremendous strides in recent years, both in educational and economic terms, and that whites ought to recognize that whites stood to benefit from such advances.  Instead, bemoaned Dabney, "as soon as a Negro begins dressing decently and exhibiting evidences of education there are always whites to protest that he is 'uppish' or 'putting on airs'.  Nothing would be more to the taste of this white element than to have all members of the black race remain in ignorance, poverty and squalor."  In addition, Dabney derided the injustice inherent in southern election laws that “are drawn on the theory that it is better for the most ignorant and depraved white man to cast a ballot than for the most highly educated Negro to do the same thing."  In 1932, Dabney authored Liberalism in the South, a book whose publication cemented his reputation as a leading southern liberal.

In supporting the political, economic, and educational advancement of African Americans, Dabney called specifically on white southerners to recognize paternalism as an “outmoded” form of social control.  Citing specifically William Alexander Percy, Dabney acknowledged the “genuine affection” of “often honorable and respected citizens” who conceived of African Americans in childlike terms.  Nevertheless, Dabney sought “to counteract the paternalistic philosophy, which holds that the Negro is always happier, always better off, always better cared for when his ‘white folks’ are supervising him, guiding him and controlling him.”  As an alternative, Dabney called on white southerners to recognize the capacity of African Americans to reach their potential as full citizens.

Dabney’s contention that African Americans ought to supervise, guide, and control their own lives, however, had limits.  Southern liberals such as Dabney never questioned the correctness or necessity of the color line, but at best tilted it from the horizontal to the vertical, encouraging greater equality but only within the bounds of segregation.  Along with like-minded compatriots, Dabney denounced the rabble-rousers and cheap politicians who encouraged racial violence and fostered gross inequality, but remained adamant that segregation be maintained as a bulwark against social equality and miscegenation.

Furthermore, and despite his criticism of paternalism, Dabney insisted that white southerners manage the pace of change.  As early as 1933, Dabney began to express grave concern that “a radical Negro element” refused to work with white southern liberals such as himself.  Over time, his definition of radical expanded to include not only communist revolutionaries and northern agitators but also indigenous supporters of the NAACP.  As it became increasingly clear in the latter half of the 1930s that the demands of black southerners could not be met within the confines of segregation, Dabney revealed that he was far more southern than liberal.

Dabney’s fears reached feverish proportions amidst the turmoil of the Second World War.  He and like-minded whites in the South struggled to remain relevant as they sought to reaffirm their commitment to a concept of interracial cooperation that did not challenge segregation itself.  African Americans, however, exhibited less and less patience for such circumscribed equality.  As the Commission on Interracial Cooperation came apart at the seams amidst the convening of the Durham, Atlanta, and Richmond conferences of 1942 and 1943, Dabney published an essay in the Atlantic Monthly in which he recognized the grievances of African Americans but blamed the NAACP and northern radicals for the racial violence that was bound to result from demands that he deemed unreasonable and untimely.
  

Dabney absorbed stinging criticism from African Americans across the nation for his remarks in the Atlantic Monthly.  No doubt he expected such ridicule from northern blacks, but the rebuke of CIC colleagues such as P. B. Young, the editor of the Norfolk Journal and Guide, and Gordon Blaine Hancock, a Richmond minister and university professor, seemed to cause genuine anguish.  Just a few months later, in November 1943, he shocked supporters and opponents alike when he authored a pair of editorials calling for the abolition of segregation on streetcars and busses in Richmond and in other Virginia municipalities.  Dabney’s “dramatic gesture,” to borrow Morton Sosna’s phrase, has most frequently been interpreted as an attempt to restore his liberal credentials and to reassure black colleagues in the CIC and then-emergent SRC of his devotion to racial justice.  John Kneebone has offered the alternative possibility that Dabney intended to draw upon himself the wrath of the white South with such vehemence that blacks would recognize the futility of their demands.

While Dabney’s gesture was indeed dramatic, and may have been motivated in part by a desire to repair his reputation, his editorial campaign must be considered primarily in terms of his commitment to managed race relations.  No one understood better than Dabney that black demands for change had exposed the contradictions and inherent limitations of an organizing ideology built upon the fiction of separate but equal.  Recognizing that the white South must make at least a pretense of a genuine commitment to separate but equal, Dabney argued for the abolition of segregation on streetcars and busses not so much to satisfy the demands of African Americans, but as evidence of the white South’s ability to make good on its long-ignored promise.  In essence, Dabney recognized that the white South must cut its losses in order to preserve segregation where it mattered most: in the schools.  Ever since the 1930s, in fact, even as his reputation as a southern liberal reached its zenith, Dabney anticipated the looming school crisis and wrote a series of editorials that foreshadowed his ultimate response to it.  From the 1930s and into the 1950s, Dabney sought to manage race relations in terms consistent with his commitment to segregation.  His ultimate failure and his inability to control the pace of change, not coincidentally, paralleled the unraveling of his relationship with the Southern Regional Council.

* * * * * * * * * *

Although often more forward thinking than other white elites in Virginia, Dabney embraced a concept of managed race relations that Richmond News Leader editor Douglas Southall Freeman frequently referred to as “The Virginia Way.”  Perpetually suspicious of democracy and fervently convinced that only the upper orders should govern, practitioners of the idea of managed race relations wholeheartedly supported segregation and disfranchisement as a means of maintaining order and ensuring stability, but rejected the rigid racial oppression and violence trumpeted elsewhere in the South.  Emphasizing civility and their friendship for black Virginians, practitioners of managed race relations promised to provide a modicum of basic services, and even encouraged a certain amount of black educational and economic uplift.  In return, white elites demanded complete deference, and expected blacks to seek redress of their grievances only through channels deemed appropriate by whites.  In one respect, white elites did keep their end of the bargain; the violence and physical coercion that defined the culture of segregation throughout much of the South was less prevalent in Virginia.  Consequently, white Virginians enjoyed a reputation throughout the first half of the twentieth century for managing race relations that were, in the words of political scientist V. O. Key, "perhaps the most harmonious in the South."

From World War I through the end of the 1920s, however, it became increasingly evident that managed race relations no longer functioned as intended.  In particular African Americans ceased to look primarily to whites for the alleviation of their grievances.  During the 1930s, as education emerged as the most salient issue around which blacks and whites contested the future of Jim Crow, African Americans across Virginia filed petitions and organized protest marches and "sit-down" strikes, demanding equal access to schools and libraries.  As long as these claims could be addressed safely within the bounds of segregation, a handful of white elites emphasized that the state had an obligation to provide equal facilities and salaries.  In fact, the more prescient, such as Virginius Dabney, understood that whites must meet this responsibility in order to ensure that the courts would continue to sanction segregation.  Black Virginians, however, recognized that separate would never be equal, and indicated that they intended to attack the broader manifestations of Jim Crow.

In remaining devoted to a conception of race relations that encouraged black advancement but denied the possibility of a truly full voice in civic affairs, Dabney and like-minded whites ran up against a conundrum to which they could not find a solution.  They had always relied on a "better class" of black leaders to council prudence and ensure that change would occur as whites saw fit.  But by the early 1940s, even the most cautious black leaders, such as P. B. Young and Gordon Blaine Hancock, signaled their intention to push for an end to Jim Crow.  Dabney and other whites considered moderate, or even liberal, were stunned by the realization that this "better class" of blacks had ambitions for black Virginians that could not be contained within the framework of managed race relations.

As early as the mid-1930s, even as his credentials as a southern liberal seemed most secure, Dabney began to exhibit concern over the ultimate implications of black demands. More specifically, Alice Jackson’s application to the University of Virginia shook the foundations of managed race relations and permanently altered the contours of interracial cooperation in the Old Dominion.  The daughter of a Richmond druggist and his wife, Jackson received her bachelor’s degree from Virginia Union University in 1934 and began master’s work in English at Smith College in Massachusetts.  In August 1935, she sought admission to the University of Virginia’s graduate program in French; if admitted, Jackson would have become the first African American to attend the school.  Set within the context of the NAACP’s broader attack on all-white graduate and professional schools in the South, Jackson’s petition met with strong resistance from Dabney, who had vigorously championed African American advancement in other areas.  To whites such as Dabney, and to some blacks as well, Jackson’s assertiveness and relationship with the NAACP violated a key component of managed race relations: that whites dictate the pace of change.  In denouncing her application, Dabney began to echo the familiar discourse of the most rabid advocates of white supremacy.

Alice Jackson’s petition came on the heels of the NAACP’s groundbreaking legal victory in the case of Donald Gaines Murray, an Amherst College graduate who sought admission to the law school at the University of Maryland.  Like Virginia, Maryland barred African Americans from its graduate and professional schools.  Murray rejected the state’s offer of scholarship aid to attend law school at Howard University in Washington, D.C., insisting that the state itself must provide equal opportunities for all students.  When a judge agreed, Murray became the first African American to enroll at the University of Maryland and the NAACP had won a crucial first victory in its assault on segregated education, a campaign that came to fruition two decades later in Brown v. Board of Education.

Black and white Virginians recognized from the outset that the NAACP’s victory in the Murray case had influenced Jackson’s decision to apply to the University of Virginia.  Not surprisingly, black newspapers applauded Jackson’s determination to procure for African Americans the same rights and privileges of citizenship, including educational opportunity, that white Virginians enjoyed.  Without endorsing the NAACP, the generally conservative Norfolk Journal and Guide explained that the civil rights organization had a “perfect case” only because of the persistent inequality of black schools.  By contrast, Douglas Southall Freeman opined on the pages of the Richmond News Leader that Jackson and the NAACP were “badly advised” in forcing the matter, while Dabney, the chief editorial writer and soon-to-be-editor of the Richmond Times-Dispatch, announced that the relevant question “is not what the Negro has an abstract ‘right’ to do, but what it is wise for him to attempt.”  Like a number of other white opinion shapers in the Old Dominion, the Times-Dispatch professed to support an increase in funding for African American schools, but rejected the threat of court proceedings, in the event that Jackson was denied admission, as likely to arouse interracial hostilities.  In support of its position, the Times-Dispatch quoted at length an article by Theodore Jones, a black resident of Richmond and frequent critic of that city’s white authorities.  Jones urged African Americans to agitate for better elementary and secondary schools, but warned that any advance toward integration would antagonize “the best white people of Virginia” and would undermine the “promotion of more friendly relations between the races.”

White officials debated how best to respond to Jackson’s application.  Initially, officials at the University of Virginia hinted that they might deny Jackson admission on a technicality, noting that the Association of American Universities had not accredited her undergraduate institution.  Meanwhile, L. R. Reynolds, the director of Virginia’s Commission on Interracial Cooperation, informed university president John Newcomb that a number of black members of the commission had guided Jackson’s appeal.  In addition, Reynolds urged Newcomb to postpone a decision until January, when Reynolds and other white members of the interracial commission planned to ask the General Assembly to provide funds for African Americans to attend out-of-state graduate and professional schools.  Ultimately, the Board of Visitors of the University of Virginia determined that “the education of white and colored persons in the same schools is contrary to the long established and fixed policy of the Commonwealth of Virginia.”  Without further explanation, the board rejected Jackson’s application.

With the denial of Jackson’s request for admission, attention shifted to the NAACP.  Chief legal counsel Charles Houston outlined the organization’s strategy and quipped that white elites in Virginia had praised his veracity in an unrelated case but wondered how they would respond when he revealed “the truth about southern education.”  With the exception of a small number of radical students at the University of Virginia who supported Jackson’s petition on grounds of equal opportunity, most white Virginians roundly condemned a court challenge.  Anticipating Houston’s next move, Virginius Dabney decried “such belligerent efforts . . . to force Negroes into institutions hitherto used by the whites.”  Beyond his generic denunciation of the NAACP, Dabney raised a more fundamental concern at the root of white supremacist ideology, warning that even the slightest amount of integration in any of the commonwealth’s schools might lead to “racial amalgamation.”

Dabney’s introduction of the shibboleth of white supremacy shocked, saddened, and disappointed those who had come to recognize him as a fair voice of southern progressivism.  A number of African Americans upbraided Dabney for his editorial on the Jackson case, none more explicitly than Richmond Planet columnist Josephus Simpson who denounced Dabney for instilling fears of racial amalgamation that clouded the real issues.  As Simpson reminded Dabney, miscegenation occurred not in response to the admission of a few blacks into all-white schools, but as a result of forced intercourse between white men and black women.  Simpson challenged those who considered the South’s customs “inviolate” and ridiculed the “so-called peaceful relations now extant in the South as a one-sided affair in which the black gives all and receives nothing.”  Instead, argued Simpson, truly amicable relations required the full recognition of African Americans as citizens.  Given that the best white Virginians and southerners had failed for seventy years to provide economic, political, legal, and educational equality, Simpson pledged to fight for the “annihilation of the damnable system of legal segregation and discrimination.”

Several months after the University of Virginia denied admission to Alice Jackson, state officials devised a two-pronged strategy to head off further applications from African Americans and to minimize the threat of lawsuits.  First, in December, the State Board of Education authorized Virginia State College, a black institution in Petersburg, to establish a graduate school.  In March, the General Assembly passed the 1936 Educational Equality Act which provided scholarship assistance for qualified black students to attend universities outside the state.  Under the terms of the law and with state assistance, thirty African Americans, including Alice Jackson, attended out-of-state graduate schools in the fall of 1936.  The popularity of the scholarship program, however, left the NAACP without a second plaintiff, a necessary back-up in the event that Jackson’s petition was dismissed.  Consequently, the civil rights organization dropped Jackson’s appeal.

Jackson’s application provided but a hint of the challenges soon to face Virginius Dabney.  In late June of 1939, the national membership of the NAACP gathered in Richmond for the organization’s weeklong annual meeting.  Addressing many of the convention’s 5,000 delegates, chief counsel Charles Houston discussed the far-reaching implications of the Supreme Court’s recent decision in Gaines v. Canada.  In that case, Lloyd Gaines sought admission to the law school at the University of Missouri.  When the registrar advised him to accept a state scholarship to attend an out-of-state law school, an arrangement similar to the one established in Virginia in the wake of Alice Jackson’s application to the University of Virginia, Gaines refused and subsequently was denied admission on account of his race.  Much to the chagrin of white elites in general and Virginius Dabney in particular, Houston urged his audience to recognize that, in rejecting Missouri’s position, the high court granted African Americans the authority to accept nothing less than admission to the same graduate and professional schools attended by whites.  “There can be no compromise now upon this question,” exclaimed Houston.  “It is not a question of wanting to sit in the same classroom with white students.  It is a question of vindicating one’s citizenship.”

Houston’s remark completely vexed Dabney.  Throughout the late 1930s, the self-described "seeker after justice for the Negro” had consistently urged whites to recognize the benefits to themselves of African American progress, had endorsed efforts to provide blacks with better facilities, and had spoken in favor of federal anti-lynching legislation.  (Ironically, given what soon transpired, Walter White of the NAACP went so far as to nominate Dabney for a Pulitzer Prize for his support of a federal anti-lynching statute.)  Dabney’s support of a teacher salary equalization case then under litigation followed naturally.    At the same time, however, Dabney expected African Americans, and especially their leaders, not to make requests that he and other white elites deemed unreasonable.  Houston’s embrace of the Supreme Court decision in Gaines served to repudiate what Dabney and other white elites had considered a fair compromise: an increase in state funding for black graduate and professional opportunities, albeit in segregated or out-of-state institutions.  African Americans, of course, saw nothing equitable in the arrangement, and were delighted when the nation’s high court agreed.

Although Houston limited his remarks to a discussion of graduate and professional schools, Dabney accurately gauged that the same logic might be extended to undergraduate, secondary, and ultimately elementary education.  The Richmond editor claimed that the issue would soon be "whether the South's system of segregated education is to be destroyed from top to bottom, and both races mingled indiscriminately all the way from the elementary grades to the graduate and professional schools."  Just as he had declared when Alice Jackson applied to the University of Virginia, Dabney predicted that the NAACP’s strategy would lead to racial amalgamation.  Such a possibility led Dabney, considered among the best that the white South had to offer in race relations, to announce that the organization’s program had become "far too radical for us."

While Dabney grossly exaggerated fears of miscegenation, he did perceive correctly that African Americans no longer considered segregation compatible with first-class citizenship, even in a tactical sense.  Blacks understood that separate had never been, nor would ever be, equal.  Whites acknowledged no other alternative.  African Americans repeatedly denied that they sought social equality, a shibboleth most often used by whites to warn against racial amalgamation.  But, as Earl Lewis has articulated, blacks “did not define social equality as interracial social mingling” and, in fact, found such a notion “totally foreign.”  African Americans, however, did demand equal pay, equal access to education and public facilities, and an equal chance at earning a living regardless of race.  In this sense, blacks across the South and the nation did demand social equality.  Consequently, Virginius Dabney and his peers on city and state interracial commissions found themselves unable to cope with the central contradiction of managed race relations: how to balance the fairer treatment of African Americans with a commitment to white supremacy when increased fairness pointed toward legal, political, educational, and economic equality.  Although at times more progressive than most of his contemporaries, Dabney's response to Charles Houston indicated that the accumulated weight of a half-century of empty promises could no longer be paved over.  However fair minded, Dabney remained a segregationist who had run out of options as black Virginians refused to wait any longer for substantive change.

Assertiveness on the part of African Americans during World War II completely paralyzed Virginius Dabney and a host of other white southerners previously deemed liberal.  As rumors of impending interracial violence swirled around Richmond, Dabney expressed alarm at what he termed an “increasingly dangerous situation” and excoriated blacks “to accept that real improvement in race relations can only come by gradual evolution.”  Mark Ethridge, the publisher of the Louisville Courier-Journal, condemned the “all or nothing” attitude of black protesters and warned that “there is no power in the world—not even all the mechanized armies of the earth, Allied and Axis—which could now force the Southern white people to the abandonment of the principle of social segregation.”  While recognizing the economic benefits that the war effort had bestowed on the South, John Temple Graves warned southern blacks not to fall prey to northern agitators and radicals who promised rapid and momentous social change.  “Segregation in the South is not going to be eliminated,” insisted the editor of the Birmingham Age-Herald.  “That is a fact to be faced.”  In response to what he considered hysterical utterances, NAACP executive secretary Walter White quipped that “the highest casualty rate of the war to date seems to be that of Southern white liberals.  For various reasons they are taking to cover at an alarming rate—fleeing before the onslaught of the professional Southern bigots.”
  

In this context, much to the distress of white Virginians, seemingly reliable black leaders questioned the gradualist approach that had governed interracial cooperation in the Old Dominion.  P. B. Young encouraged African Americans to support the war, but used the pages of the Norfolk Journal and Guide to condemn the multiple injustices at the heart of its prosecution.  In addition, Young denounced the propensity of Virginius Dabney and other whites to insist on controlling the pace of reform.  “This is no time to be conservative,” declared Young.  “Help us get some of the blessings of democracy here at home first before you . . . tell us to go forth and die in a foreign land.”  Likewise, wartime developments heightened the expectations of Young’s ideological soulmate, Gordon Blaine Hancock.  Without specifically calling for the abolition of segregation, the Richmond cleric and sociology professor warned of grave consequences if white elites failed to replace paternalism and its empty promises with a genuine commitment to concrete reform.
   

Unable to conceive of an alternative to managed race relations, Virginius Dabney struggled to remain relevant by attempting to seize what historian John Kneebone has characterized as “the rational middle ground.”  With greater frequency and urgency, the editor of the Richmond Times-Dispatch identified white extremists and black protesters as equal threats to civic order, and insisted that tempered gradualism alone, guided by white elites such as himself, would ensure “the steady progress of the Negro” and prevent an all-out race war.  Dabney’s concern reflected a devolution in his attitude toward the NAACP and its leadership.  The civil rights organization, he felt, played an important and commendable role in improving the lives of African Americans, but only insofar as it proceeded within the confines of segregation.  Consequently, as Walter White pointed out, Dabney began “seeing things under the bed” from the moment that Charles Houston announced in June 1939 that the NAACP would be satisfied with nothing less than the full vindication of African American citizenship.  What Houston wrought, White’s deputy Roy Wilkins embellished when he announced that blacks and whites belonged “on a plane of absolute political and social equality.”  Beside himself with consternation, Dabney responded with a warning that black agitators and white rabble-rousers threatened to precipitate the “worst internal clashes since Reconstruction, with hundreds, if not thousands, killed and amicable race relations set back for decades.”

Dabney’s formulation failed to distinguish morally between the non-violent, legally based aspirations of black protesters and the threat or actual use of force employed by white extremists.  But even within the confines of his equation, Dabney assumed different standards of behavior for whites and blacks.  The Richmond newsman accepted as inevitable that certain white southerners would react violently to black demands.  Consequently, without condoning such violence, Dabney disproportionately blamed African Americans for creating the conditions that threatened to accelerate out of control.  Firmly convinced that black leaders ought to retreat from their demands rather than risk bloodshed, Dabney warned African Americans that their assertiveness threatened to drive him and other sympathetic whites “into the opposition camp.”

 
Dabney’s proclamation deeply offended longtime black allies such as P. B. Young.  A colleague for years on the state interracial commission, Young angrily challenged Dabney’s failure to address the fundamental pressures and inequities under which African Americans labored.  “You merely point to alarm and predict violence and bloodshed,” Young wrote.  “Can’t you offer something rational and human which would avert the dire things you predict?”  Furthermore, according to the editor of the Norfolk Journal and Guide, Dabney’s preoccupation with the potential for violence foreclosed the possibility of genuine advancement for African Americans.  In a stinging personal rebuke to Dabney, Young added that “while your language is always cultured and your attitude dignified,” in contrast with the coarse language and brutal attitudes of the worst southern demagogues, “the result is the same.”

Journalist Thomas Sancton, a white native of New Orleans who moved to New York during the war, attacked Dabney along lines similar to Young.  In particular, Sancton denounced the tendency of Dabney and other white elites to blame all racial tension on black militants and rabidly racist lower and working-class whites.  As Sancton understood and historians Morton Sosna and John Kneebone have articulated, white elites in the South regularly employed these bogeymen as an excuse to postpone reform and to allow themselves to maintain the moral high ground.  Expressing greater faith in non-elite whites and blacks than the genteel editor of the Times-Dispatch, Sancton urged Dabney to direct his message toward a more culpable class of white southerners.  Referring specifically to “well-to-do housewives who sit around talking their snide talk” about uppity blacks, Sancton declared that “someone has got to tell these people straight to their faces even though it means insulting them that . . . a change of attitude is damn well demanded of them by virtue of every soldier who is risking and giving his life to keep this country worth living in.”
 

Young and Sancton, in effect, recognized and exposed the fundamental weakness, the inherent limitation, of Dabney’s devotion to managed race relations.  In articles, editorials, and private correspondence penned throughout the war years, Dabney admitted that racial discrimination was incompatible with democratic ideals.  On an intellectual level, he recognized the legitimacy of black grievances, especially given the absolute failure of white southerners to provide equal facilities.  Nevertheless, Dabney suffered the same debilitating disease that afflicted the most crass and violent white southerners; he could not free himself from an emotional and ideological attachment to white supremacy.  Therefore, whenever the legal rights of African Americans came into conflict with the wishes and customs of the white South, Dabney defined himself as a segregationist.  Consequently, his brand of southern progressivism—characterized by a repudiation of bigotry and an emphasis on the fairer treatment of blacks—lost credibility; before long Dabney himself recognized that others derided him as a “pale dishwater liberal.”

In the fall of 1943, as plans were finalized for the establishment of the Southern Regional Council, Virginius Dabney surprised blacks and whites in the South and the North when he urged the commonwealth of Virginia to repeal its laws mandating segregation on common carriers.  In an editorial published on November 13 in the Times-Dispatch, Dabney argued that wartime conditions had produced “well-nigh intolerable friction” on streetcars and busses in Richmond, Norfolk, Portsmouth, and Newport News.  The rationing of fuel and tires, a ban on pleasure driving, and the migration of thousands of newcomers into these cities had, in fact, stretched urban transportation systems to the breaking point, especially during rush hour.  Forced to sit or stand in the rear of common carriers, African American riders had to push their way through aisles packed with whites.  Instead of keeping the races apart as intended, Dabney explained, this particular segregation statute actually had the opposite effect and had become a “constant source of trouble, irritation, and bad feeling.”

To an extent, Dabney recognized and hoped to address what few white southerners cared to understand.  As Swedish social scientist Gunnar Myrdal concluded in his massive study of American race relations, An American Dilemma, “it is a common observation that the Jim Crow car is resented more bitterly among Negroes than most other forms of segregation.”  Black passengers chafed in particular against the often arbitrary enforcement of Jim Crow transportation statutes which, at times, appeared to serve no other purpose than as an incessant and gratuitous reminder of white superiority.  Throughout the war, especially as busses and streetcars became more crowded, these slights intensified.

Intent on eliminating the discriminatory application of the state’s segregation statutes in order to save the laws themselves, Dabney wrote a second editorial eight days after the first in which he defined the repeal of segregation on common carriers as “the truly conservative course” in race relations.  Dabney initially offered his proposal as a simple and logical means of lessening tension, but in his second piece, he presented the abolition of Jim Crow on streetcars and busses as absolutely necessary to the continued management of white supremacy.  Discussing at length the deliberations that had taken place recently in Durham, Atlanta, and Richmond, the editor of the Times-Dispatch warned that whites must immediately provide “evidence” of good will to black leaders in the South who labored intensively to minimize the influence of radical northerners.  “Unless we meet them halfway,” he wrote, “it will be difficult, if not impossible, for them to retain control over their people.”  Dabney urged his readership to recognize that the future of white supremacy required “reasonable concessions,” and that the repeal of segregation on common carriers would not only provide such evidence, but would constitute the “greatest single step toward race relations taken in any Southern State for decades.”

Whether he liked it or not, Dabney’s editorials drew the enthusiastic praise of his most caustic critics—militant editors in the North and leaders of the NAACP.  Not surprisingly, black leaders in the South added their support.  White newspapers in the South, on the other hand, met Dabney’s challenge with a chilly silence; only a small paper in Kinston, North Carolina, even bothered to respond.  For his part, Douglas Southall Freeman, editor of the Richmond News Leader, privately expressed his belief that Dabney should not have agitated the issue.  Even closer to home, Dabney came under intense pressure from elite women in Richmond who complained to his wife that his proposal had made it more difficult to control and keep their domestic servants.  Politicians throughout the state kept their own counsel, but when the General Assembly convened in January, no one offered a bill to repeal segregation on the state’s common carriers.

Hundreds of readers, on the other hand, did respond to Dabney’s two editorials.  The editor admitted that the letters he received did not accurately represent white opinion in Virginia, but nevertheless felt gratified that whites in favor of his proposal outnumbered opponents three to one.  Needless to say, black correspondents were nearly unanimous in their praise.  Dabney’s supporters, many of them women, interpreted the issue as a matter of basic fairness and emphasized the need to live up to democratic principles, especially while at war with a fascist enemy.  Quite a few individuals acknowledged that the war itself had led them to rethink the wisdom and necessity of segregation.  Drawing upon several common themes, opponents virulently denounced Dabney.  Some argued in what were essentially class terms, asserting that only those who did not depend on public transportation could have supported the proposal.  In an editorial note, Dabney refuted such charges and claimed that he rode Richmond’s busses and streetcars every day.  The most intense feeling came from opponents who accused Dabney of creating an opening wedge that would just as logically lead to the abolition of segregation in other areas, including interracial marriage.

No doubt aware that he negotiated uncertain terrain, Dabney felt the need to defend himself against such charges.  Reiterating that he favored the abolition of segregation on common carriers only because the laws no longer functioned as intended, Dabney insisted that “the Times-Dispatch is not advocating the repeal of any of these laws except those covering urban streetcars and busses.”  In fact, Dabney warned his readers that the greatest threat to segregation was not his proposal, but the general failure of white southerners to accept their own responsibilities with a sense of purpose.  “There can be no conceivable moral or legal justification for our dual system, under a democratic government, unless absolutely equal facilities are provided for both races,” the editor concluded.  “The whole series of hateful oppressions which segregation has come to connote must not be allowed to continue one day longer than necessary.”

In a private exchange with Louis Jaffé, the editor of the Norfolk Virginian-Pilot, Dabney expanded on these themes in terms that hint at the deepest motivations behind his editorial campaign.  Without professing an ideological attachment to segregation, Jaffé conveyed to Dabney his own determination that segregation on common carriers “ought to be terminated as soon as practicable.”  Jaffé looked forward to the day when that might occur, but concluded that segregation on streetcars and busses could not yet be abolished peacefully.  Dabney defined pragmatism in different terms.  Not only did he accept the abolition of Jim Crow on busses and streetcars as a practical means of alleviating tension, but he did so precisely to protect the legitimacy of segregation as an organizing ideology.  Dabney recognized that a failure to affirm segregation’s compatibility with democratic values and principles meant that “it is just as logical to argue against it in the public schools,” a possibility that had preoccupied Dabney, much to his horror, ever since Alice Jackson applied for admission to the University of Virginia.  In attempting to show his black neighbors that "we are not stalling them off with nothing but fine words,” Dabney undoubtedly recognized and embraced an opportunity to repair the damage done to his reputation during the war years.  But of greater concern to Dabney, his editorial campaign against Jim Crow transportation constituted a plea to the white South to cut its losses, retrench, and protect what remained most important: segregation in the schools.

Dabney’s commitment to managed race relations not only lay at the heart of his editorial campaign, but also defined his tenuous and troubled relationship with the Southern Regional Council.  As an ever-widening gulf between supporters and opponents of segregation clouded the initial deliberations of the SRC from its inception in January 1944, no one pushed harder than Dabney to move the SRC toward an explicit acceptance of segregation.  From January to June of 1944, Dabney worked behind the scenes to counter criticism in Common Ground, a New York-based periodical that published two articles— one by J. Saunders Redding of Hampton Institute and the other by Lillian Smith—whose authors expressed doubt that the SRC could serve a useful purpose until it took a public stand against segregation.  No doubt Dabney felt personally Smith’s charge that well-meaning white leaders of the SRC who refused to “acknowledge publicly the basic truth that segregation is injuring us on every level of our life” constituted “the lost generation of the South.”

Smith’s criticism only intensified Dabney’s desire to see the SRC take a stand in support of segregation.  At a meeting in Atlanta in December 1944, Dabney asked the executive board of the SRC to “accept segregation as the law of the land,” and to commit “to work within that framework for a better deal for the colored people.”  In response, Benjamin Mays proposed that the SRC go on record as opposed to segregation.  An uneasy truce reigned as the SRC declined to commit itself one way or the other, a decision that pleased no one.  Lillian Smith refused to join the organization so long as it tolerated segregation.  African Americans such as P. B. Young and Gordon Blaine Hancock expressed profound disillusionment and questioned the sincerity of their white colleagues.  Uncomfortable with the implications of continued involvement, whites such as Jessie Daniel Ames retreated to the sidelines, bringing to an end more than two decades of interracial activism.
  

In the wake of his failure in Atlanta, Dabney commiserated with Francis Bridges, a Floridian who resigned from the SRC in response to the organization’s refusal to adopt Dabney’s proposal.  Dabney informed Bridges that “it may be that I shall find it necessary to leave the Council also, although I do not feel that this is necessary yet.  Much depends on what the Council does with regard to segregation.”  Although deeply troubled by developments within the SRC, Dabney revealed the extent to which he still sought to manage the pace of change.  “I shall hesitate a long time before resigning,” he explained, “since it seems to me that if this organization fails there is nothing to stand between us and leadership from the Northern radicals.”
  

Several months later, Dabney revealed with greater clarity his intentions with regard to the SRC.  In a letter to George Watts Hill, who was about to join the organization, Dabney remained hopeful that the SRC would “try to work on the obvious injustices and inequities which exist in race relations, without trying to eliminate segregation.”  But “if the Council should go on record for abolishing segregation everywhere,” Dabney warned, “it is my intention to resign all connection with it.”

While Dabney emphasized that it was necessary to act as a buffer against northern radicals, he recognized that the greatest threat to managed race relations came from southern blacks.  In a July 1945 letter to Jessie Daniel Ames, Dabney expressed frustration that “three or four years ago they never admitted that they wanted to get rid of segregation, and in fact frequently denied that they had such an objective.  They merely asked that facilities and opportunities be equalized.  Now they have come straight out into the open with the demand that segregation be abolished.”  Resigned to and yet simultaneously unable to accept this tactical change among African Americans in Virginia and in the South, Dabney opined that this change in black demands constituted “the rock on which we are going to crash.”

As the SRC struggled to determine its course, Dabney assumed an increasingly defensive posture.  Writing for a national audience, he warned outsiders against undue interference in the South’s affairs.  Dabney insisted that southerners such as himself considered it a top priority to eliminate racial injustice, but not at the risk of offending the pride or incurring the wrath of the region’s whites.  Such change, he argued, had to be handled delicately and from within.  Not surprisingly then, Dabney objected vociferously to the October 1947 findings of President Harry Truman’s Committee on Civil Rights.  Although the commission’s report did acknowledge that constitutional restrictions limited the reach of the federal government in the enforcement of civil rights, it nevertheless undermined the legitimacy of the South’s dual system.  Stressing the failure of the separate-but-equal doctrine, the report concluded that “there is no adequate defense of segregation” and called for the “elimination of segregation . . . from American life.”  To this end, the committee recommended the passage of federal laws aimed at the eradication of lynching and the poll tax, as well as the abolition of segregation in the armed services, on interstate transportation, and throughout Washington, D.C.  Once a proponent of a federal anti-lynching statute, Dabney no longer considered such legislation necessary.  On record as opposed to the poll tax, the editor of the Times-Dispatch now insisted that such matters be left to the states.

The release of the report ensured that civil rights, or more precisely white opposition to civil rights, dominated southern discourse in 1948.  William Tuck, then the governor of Virginia, responded with a legislative initiative designed to keep Truman’s name off the ballot in Virginia.  The Democratic State Central Committee supported Tuck’s effort and unanimously adopted a resolution that condemned the president’s efforts to “abolish the barriers of segregation and social division recognized by the leaders of both races to be most conducive to the maintenance of peaceable and friendly relations between the races.”

The white South’s inability and unwillingness to meet even the minimum responsibilities it set for itself, however, had eroded any possibility of consent among African Americans—and consent lay at the heart of what whites meant by peaceable and friendly race relations.  As Gordon Blaine Hancock iterated in a devastating attack on Virginius Dabney, white inaction and mistreatment had left blacks with no choice but “to sue for everything.”  And sue they did.  By 1948, equalization cases clogged the dockets of Virginia’s courts.  The gross inferiority of African American schools proved all the more untenable given the emergence of education as the most important, debated, and talked about political issue in the state after 1945.  Pressured by parents and children of both races to improve the quality of education, state and local officials struggled frantically to comply within the confines of a dual system.  One of the more desperate, and unworkable, solutions entailed black teachers and students swapping schools with white teachers and students.  Not surprisingly, white parents and students exhibited little enthusiasm.

Meanwhile, African Americans used the federal courts to further chip away at the edifice of white supremacy.  In June 1950 the United States Supreme Court ruled unanimously in Sweatt v. Painter that a Texas law school for blacks, hastily established to meet the Court’s edict in Gaines v. Canada, did not satisfy the Court’s statutory requirement to provide a facility equal to the law school for white students.  While the Supreme Court did not specifically strike down segregation in graduate and professional schools, the Court achieved as much by setting an unattainable standard for equalization, announcing that such difficult-to-measure features as alumni prestige, faculty reputation, and tradition would henceforth be taken into consideration.

As whites throughout the Old Dominion and the South awoke to the realization that only a thorough commitment to equalization could head off integration, the NAACP switched tack and challenged segregation itself.  Throughout the 1930s and 1940s, the NAACP had won a series of court rulings that challenged the constitutionality of inequality in graduate and professional schools without attacking segregation directly.  But after the Sweatt ruling in 1950, the civil rights organization decided to cease filing equalization suits and to seek the abolition of segregation in the public schools at all levels, from graduate and professional to secondary and elementary.  In the spring of 1951, NAACP attorneys in Virginia initiated proceedings against the school board of Prince Edward County, one of five suits from around the South ultimately bundled together into Brown v. Board of Education.  Virginius Dabney’s greatest fear, so clearly articulated more than a decade before in his response to Charles Houston, had come to fruition.

Attorneys for the Prince Edward school board understood implicitly that University of Virginia president Colgate Darden—sincere, thoughtful, well respected by both blacks and whites, and a former governor—represented their best hope to defend the validity of segregation.  Consequently, when the case came before a panel of federal district court judges, Darden appeared as the key witness for the defendants.  In language that surely resonated with Virginius Dabney, Darden spoke in the deeply paternalistic language so central to managed race relations, never conceiving of the issue in terms of the constitutional rights of Virginia’s black citizens but rather in terms of what benefits whites were willing to grant to blacks.  The former governor deplored the horrid conditions of the black schools in Prince Edward County, and insisted that whites not only had the capacity but an obligation to provide equal opportunities to black students.  He refused to accept, however, that segregation itself guaranteed discrimination; instead Darden expressed publicly his belief that a dual system could be made equal, and that such a system served the best interests of both races.

In response to the NAACP’s shift in strategy, the Southern Regional Council finally ended its eight-year dance of ambiguity.  Late in 1951, as lawyers for the NAACP and Prince Edward County prepared their arguments, the SRC acknowledged what Virginius Dabney and Colgate Darden could not: that segregation and equality were not compatible.  In a statement of policy and aims entitled “Toward the South of the Future,” the SRC specifically pledged itself to the creation of a South “where segregation will be recognized as a cruel and needless penalty on the human spirit, and will no longer be imposed; where, above all, every individual will enjoy a full share of dignity and self-respect, in recognition of his creation in the image of God.”  Without hesitation, Virginius Dabney, who by this time referred to himself as a conservative, resigned from the SRC, unwilling to lend his support to an organization that openly repudiated segregation.  Dabney’s tortured ordeal, to paraphrase historian John Kneebone, had finally come to an end.

Soon thereafter, a more circumspect Colgate Darden submitted his own resignation.  Writing to SRC executive director George Mitchell, Darden acknowledged yet again that for too long segregation had been used “as a shield for discrimination and oppression.  For this there is no justification or excuse.”  Nevertheless, he remained firmly opposed to the abolition of segregation, especially in the primary and secondary schools.  A decent man who cared genuinely about the welfare of the commonwealth’s citizenry, Darden tragically lacked the insight, or the courage, to free himself from the confines of his heritage.  Darden continued to claim that the South could eliminate discrimination and provide “an equality of opportunity” while remaining segregated, and yet he knew perfectly well that white southerners lacked the will or inclination to do so.

Virginia's reputation for good race relations remained relatively intact until the mid-1950s when white Virginians led the white South down the path of massive resistance rather than comply with the Supreme Court's Brown decision.  Although Virginius Dabney exhibited little enthusiasm for certain aspects of the massive resistance campaign, and even left many of the Times-Dispatch’s editorials on the subject to a colleague, he defended the commonwealth’s position to a national audience.  Writing in Life magazine at the height of the school crisis, Dabney noted that segregation on busses and streetcars had been eliminated in Virginia several years earlier without difficulty.  In addition, he acknowledged that a handful of professional schools had been desegregated without incident, a prospect inconceivable to him more than twenty years earlier when Alice Jackson applied to the University of Virginia.  Unable to recognize the extent to which his own fears in that case had proven to be a gross exaggeration, Dabney remained convinced that the “education of the races together in the elementary and secondary schools will lead to ultimate interracial amalgamation and make ours a nation of mulattoes.”  Moreover, he warned that the “education of the mass of whites and Negroes together in the public schools is the place where the vast majority of white Virginians draw a hard, fast and firm line.”   Consequently, Dabney blamed massive resistance on “the extremism of the NAACP” and applauded the Commonwealth of Virginia’s “peaceable, honorable stand.” 

In April 1956, Virginius Dabney wrote a most revealing letter to George Mitchell.  Dabney explained to Mitchell that he had recently come under fire from a “crackpot sheet” published in Newport News that had attempted to brand him an integrationist.  In particular, the broadsheet had published a quotation in which Dabney praised the SRC as the “sanest, best-informed Southwide organization dealing with race relations” alongside the SRC’s declaration that “The South of the Future . . . is a South . . . where segregation will be recognized as a cruel and needless penalty on the human spirit, and will no longer be imposed.”

A SRC pamphlet did, in fact, quote Dabney in the words charged by his accusers.  But, as Dabney reminded Mitchell, “I said or wrote it years ago, before the Council came out for integration.”  Furthermore, Dabney reiterated that he had worked to prevent the SRC “from passing pro-integration resolutions.”  In words that no one could have misinterpreted, Dabney wrote, “To keep the record straight, I have never thought, and do not now think that the South is ready for integration in the public schools.  The uproar occasioned by the Supreme Court’s decision, seems to me to bear out the correctness of that view.”  Consequently, Dabney asked Mitchell to remove his name and words of support from all subsequent SRC literature.
 

Dabney’s letter to Mitchell laid bare his reasons for leaving the SRC in a way that his actual letter of resignation did not.  In January 1952, in the wake of the SRC’s explicit rejection of segregation, Dabney informed Mitchell that he must resign because of his “inability to give adequate attention to the organization’s affairs.”  Given his repeated warnings over the years that he would resign if the SRC moved to oppose segregation, it is noteworthy that Dabney made no mention of such policy differences when he did resign.  But by the time Dabney wrote Mitchell in April 1956, just weeks had passed since Virginia’s senior U. S. Senator, Harry Flood Byrd, first uttered the words “massive resistance.”   In this increasingly tense atmosphere, Dabney moved toward a more open embrace of the views held by Senator Byrd and his dominant Organization; by this time, in fact, Dabney had begun to compliment Byrd publicly for his wise and honest leadership.

Ultimately, Dabney could not move beyond his devotion to Virginia’s tradition of managed race relations in which white elites dictated the pace of change.  Even as late as 1962, he continued to blame the NAACP as much as white resisters in Prince Edward for the closing of that county’s public school system.  By 1971, Dabney acknowledged in an interview with Morton Sosna that he had come to recognize, in Sosna’s words, that “legalized segregation was an unjust system that ultimately had to be eliminated.”  Nevertheless, Dabney continued to express his own personal disapproval of miscegenation, no doubt a comforting position for a man who never recognized that African American aspirations had nothing to do with interracial marriage and sexual relations.

In the mid-1980s, as massive resistance became a source of considerable embarrassment to eminent Virginians, Virginius Dabney attempted to dismiss it as an aberration from Virginia's heritage of sound leadership and good race relations.  Massive resistance, however, was not an aberration at all, but rather a logical response to black demands for change that could not be met within the context of Virginia’s system of race relations.  By the 1950s, white Virginians such as Virginius Dabney could no longer pave over the accumulated weight of more than a half-century of irresolvable contradictions.  Massive resistance gave the lie to Virginia’s system of managed race relations, but its emptiness had been evident for some time.  Although less violent than in other southern states, whites in Virginia proved to be just as committed to segregation, and often less honest with themselves and the black citizens of the commonwealth.
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